RECEIVED

03-22-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II Case No. 2017AP000003-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

JAMES R. STIB,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Ozaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Sandy A. Williams Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did police violate James Stib's constitutional right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures by unlawfully prolonging a traffic stop for purposes of conducting a dog sniff?

During the traffic stop in this case, the officer conducting the stop discontinued the process of issuing a written warning after the canine unit he had requested arrived on scene. He then assisted the canine unit with a dog sniff and, after the dog alerted for the presence of drugs, searched the vehicle. The circuit court found that the officers did not prolong the stop for purposes of a dog sniff because, at the time the canine unit arrived, the officer conducting the stop was still in the process of issuing the warning.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs will fully address the issue presented, so Stib does not request oral argument. *See* WIS. STAT. § 809.22(2)(b). He does not request publication because the case can be resolved by applying established legal precedent to the facts. WIS. STAT. § 809.23(1)(b)1., 3.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Allegations of the criminal complaint.

The State charged James Stib with possession of tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) as a second or subsequent offense, concealing a stolen firearm, resisting an officer, felon in possession of a firearm, and two counts of possession of

drug paraphernalia. (1:1-2; 5:2-3). According to the complaint, Trooper Brendan Braun of the Wisconsin State Patrol initiated a traffic stop of a vehicle traveling at eighty-one miles-per-hour on Interstate 43 (I-43) in the City of Mequon. Stib was the front seat passenger in the vehicle. The complaint alleged that, as the vehicle exited at the nearby off-ramp, Braun observed the vehicle appear to lose control. The vehicle then drove to a nearby gas station and stopped in the parking lot. (1:2).

The complaint further alleged that after stopping the vehicle, Braun called for a canine unit. After the canine unit arrived, the dog was deployed around the vehicle and alerted for the presence of a controlled substance. Braun then searched the vehicle. On the front passenger seat, he found a glass pipe that smelled like burnt marijuana. Under the same seat, he also found a metal grinder containing suspected marijuana. (1:2).

Following the discovery of these items, Braun attempted to take Stib into custody; however, Stib broke away from his grip and ran across the intersection into an empty field. (1:2-3). Stib was located and taken into custody about thirty minutes later. (1:3). Thereafter, Braun continued his search of the vehicle and discovered a coat containing a photo identification belonging to Stib and a small handgun that had been reported stolen. (1:3).

B. Plea and sentencing hearing.

On February 9, 2016, Stib pled guilty to concealing a stolen firearm and resisting an officer. (62:8-9). Pursuant to the parties' plea agreement, the State agreed to dismiss the remaining counts. (62:2, 9). That same day, the court, the Honorable Sandy A. Williams, conducted Stib's sentencing hearing. On the concealing a stolen firearm count, the court

withheld sentence and placed Stib on probation for three years. On the resisting an officer count, the court sentenced Stib to six months in the local jail. (62:19).

C. Motion to suppress and evidence at the suppression hearing.

Prior to pleading guilty, Stib filed a motion to suppress the evidence obtained as a result the traffic stop and subsequent vehicle search. He argued that the stop and search were unreasonable and therefore violated his Fourth Amendment rights. (12). Over a several-day period, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the suppression motion. (55, 56, 57; App. 101-174). Two witnesses testified: Braun and Officer Brian Emmerich of the Cedarburg Police Department.

Braun testified that on the day in question, he was on duty in his squad car monitoring traffic on I-43 when he observed a vehicle traveling at a high rate of speed. (55:3; App. 103). Braun stated that he clocked the vehicle at eightyone miles-per-hour with his radar gun. He then activated his emergency lights and pursued the vehicle. (55:4; App. 104).

According to Braun, as the vehicle was exiting the freeway at the next off-ramp, "the reverse lights briefly came on and then shut off" and the vehicle made "sort of a jerking motion." (55:5; App. 105). Braun stated this caused him to believe "the driver might lose control briefly." (55:5; App. 105). He also stated that he believed that the driver may have been "trying to hide something, taking [her] attention off controlling the vehicle and moving about the vehicle." (55:5; App. 105).

Braun further testified that, after exiting the freeway, the vehicle drove to a nearby gas station and stopped in the parking lot. (55:6; App. 106). Braun then made contact with the driver, and noted that two other passengers were in the vehicle. (55:6, 13; App. 106, 113). Stib was the front seat passenger. (55:9-10; App. 109-10). Braun stated he obtained the driver's license and returned to his vehicle to issue a citation and warning. (55:6, 13, 17; App. 106, 113, 117).

Before beginning this process, however, Braun contacted the Mequon Police Department and requested a canine to do a walk around of the vehicle. The Mequon Police Department responded that its canine was not available, so Braun contacted the Cedarburg Police Department, and they informed him their canine was available and would be dispatched to his location. (55:6-7; App. 106-07). Braun estimated that these calls took about two minutes to make. (55:7; App. 107).

Thereafter, Braun began the process of writing a citation and warning on his squad car's computer. (55:6-7; App. 106-07). Approximately five minutes later, however, Emmerich, the Cedarburg canine officer, arrived on scene. Braun stated that during this five-minute time period, he was working on filling out and printing the citation. (55:7; App. 107).

Braun testified that at that point, he stopped working on the warning, briefed Emmerich on the situation, and told him he wanted the canine deployed around the vehicle. (55:8; App. 108). He said this took less than a minute. (55:8; App. 108). Emmerich asked Braun to have the driver and passengers exit the vehicle before he deployed the canine. (55:8; App. 108). Braun then asked all the occupants to step out of the vehicle, explained what was going on to the driver, patted all occupants down for weapons, and had them stand outside while the canine was deployed. (55:8; App. 108). He stated that this process took approximately two minutes. (55:8; App. 108). While Emmerich deployed the canine, Braun stood by with the driver and two passengers. (55:8; App. 108).

Braun further testified that after deploying the canine, Emmerich advised him that the dog had alerted on the vehicle. (55:9; App. 109). Braun then searched the vehicle. Inside, near the seatbelt buckle of the front passenger seat, he found a small black case with a pipe and marijuana inside. (55:9; App. 109). Under the same seat, he found a marijuana grinder with marijuana inside. (55:9; App. 109).

At that point, Braun decided to place Stib under arrest, since the marijuana and paraphernalia were found by his seat. (55:10; App. 110). When Braun put his hand on Stib's arm, however, Stib pulled away and started running across a field. (55:10; App. 110). Braun stated that approximately ten minutes had elapsed from the time he first made contact with the driver to the point where Stib fled the scene. (55:11; App. 111). He further stated that Stib was eventually located and arrested. (55:10; App. 110). After Stib was taken into custody, Braun completed the process of searching the vehicle and completing the traffic stop. (55:10-11; App. 110-11). He stated that he issued one citation for speeding and one warning for having a cracked windshield.¹ (55:11; 61:6-8; App. 111, 163-65).

Braun also testified that the typical traffic stop takes between ten and fifteen minutes. (55:11; App. 111).

¹ Braun originally testified that the warning was for obstructing. (55:11; App. 111). He later clarified, however, that the warning was for a cracked windshield. (61:6-8; App. 163-65; *see also* 15:2).

On cross-examination, Braun admitted that at the time he decided to stop the vehicle, he did not see anything that indicated the driver may have been impaired. (55:12; App. 112). He also stated that he did not see anything illegal going on inside the vehicle while he was following it or when it stopped in the gas station parking lot. (55:12; App. 112). He further testified that the car had valid plates, was registered to driver, and the driver had a valid license. (55:12-13; App. 112-13).

In addition, when Braun made contact with the driver, he did not see anything illegal or strange going on inside the vehicle. (55:13; App. 113). He also stated that the driver answered his questions in a logical and reasonable manner, and he did not smell drugs or alcohol in the vehicle. (55:13-14; App. 113-14). He specifically stated that there "was nothing that would have caused [him] suspicion to believe that there were drugs in the vehicle" based on his contact with the vehicle's occupants. (55:14; App. 114).

At a continued hearing, Emmerich testified that he responded to the traffic stop in this case, along with a canine that had been trained in drug work. (56:4-5; App. 129-30). Upon arrival, he spoke with Braun, and Braun had the driver exit the vehicle and sit in the back of his squad car. (56:6; App. 131). Emmerich stated that at that point, he could see Stib "moving around in the car, looking back at us like he was worried about what we were doing." (56:6-7; App. 131-32). He described these movements as follows:

Moving his hands around and stuff like that, kept looking back to the back seat passenger, looking out the windows to see what we were doing.

(56:7; App. 132). Emmerich also stated, however, that he could not actually see what Stib was supposedly doing with his hands. (56:7; App. 132).

Emmerich testified that Braun next had Stib and the other passenger exit the vehicle. (56:8; App. 133). Shortly thereafter, Emmerich walked the dog around the vehicle, and it alerted for the presence of a controlled substance. (56:8; App. 133). Thereafter, he and Braun searched the vehicle. (56:9; App. 134).

During the suppression hearing, the parties also stipulated to the admission of the squad cam video from Braun's vehicle, which was played in open court. (57:2-5; App. 144-47; see also 21, Ex. 2). The video shows that after Braun initiated the traffic stop, Emmerich arrived on scene approximately ten minutes after the vehicle stopped in the gas station parking lot. (21, Ex. 2 at 21:06:17 to 21:17:55). At that point, Braun stopped working on the citation and warning and proceeded to brief Emmerich and assist him with the dog sniff. In this regard, the video reflects that Braun had the vehicle's occupants step out of the car and frisked them one by one. He then stood by outside his squad car near Stib and the other passenger while Emmerich conducted the dog sniff. Emmerich completed the dog sniff approximately five minutes after he arrived on scene. (21, Ex. 2 at 21:17:55 to 21:23:07). At that point, Braun announced that he intended to search the vehicle because the dog had alerted. (21, Ex. 2 at 21:23:07 to 21:23:17).

Defense counsel argued that the evidence demonstrated that police had prolonged the stop for the sole purpose of conducting the dog sniff, which they lacked reasonable suspicion to do so. He further asserted that this type of police misconduct is expressly prohibited by the United States Supreme Court decision *Rodriguez v. United States*, _____ U.S. ____, 135 S.Ct. 1609 (2015). (57:6-9; App. 148-51). In response, the State insisted that *Rodriguez* was distinguishable, as police here had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop due to the vehicle's "jerking motion" before it stopped and Stib's "furtive movements" inside the car after Emmerich arrived on scene. (57:5-6, 9-10; App. 146-48, 151-52).

The circuit court denied Stib's motion in an oral ruling. The court did not make any findings that there were actually "furtive movements" by Stib, as the State had suggested. (57:12; App. 154). Nor did the court conclude that the vehicle's "jerking motion" justified the dog sniff. Instead, the court reasoned that Braun had not actually prolonged the stop, because at the time Emmerich arrived on scene, Braun was still in the process of writing the citation and warning:

And from my notes, he has got – while writing the citation, the canine arrives and he stops writing the citation just to tell the Cedarburg Police Officer what he has and to have the driver and passenger step out of the vehicle. And there is a pat down and this is all, I think, appropriate. He is not prolonging the traffic stop just so the canine can go around the car. He still has not completed the actual traffic citation process by handing the citation, giving the license back, and allowing the person to go on their way.

(57:10-12; App. 152-54).

Stib subsequently filed a motion asking the circuit court to reconsider its decision. (28). In his motion, he asserted that the squad cam video reflects that prior to Emmerich's arrival, the sound of a citation printing can be heard in Braun's vehicle. He therefore argued that because Braun had only needed to give the citation to the driver to complete the stop, he had unlawfully prolonged the stop for the sole purpose of conducting the dog sniff. (28:1-3).

At a subsequent evidentiary hearing, Braun testified that he had indeed finished writing the speeding citation and had printed it out. (61:6-7; App. 163-64). However, he also stated that after he finished the citation, he began working on a warning for a cracked windshield, and Emmerich arrived while he was still working on the warning. (61:7-8; App. 164-65). Based on this testimony, the circuit court denied Stib's motion for reconsideration. (61:12-13; App. 169-70).

This appeal follows.² (33; 48).

ARGUMENT

I. Police Violated Stib's Fourth Amendment Rights by Unlawfully Prolonging the Traffic Stop for the Sole Purpose of Conducting a Dog Sniff.

This case involved a routine traffic stop for a speeding violation. There was simply no reasonable basis to suspect that Stib – or anyone else in the car – was engaged in any type of criminal behavior. The police, however, extended the traffic stop in order to conduct a dog sniff, and they did so based on nothing more than a hunch. The extension of the stop was therefore unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment and the evidence it produced should be suppressed.

 $^{^2}$ A defendant may appeal an order denying a suppression motion despite a guilty plea. WIS. STAT. § 971.31(10).

A. General legal principles and standard of review.

The right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures is guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. This court consistently follows the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment in construing Article I, § 11. *State v. Betterley*, 191 Wis. 2d 407, 417, 529 N.W.2d 216 (1995).

"Temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a 'seizure' of 'persons' within the meaning of [the Fourth Amendment]. *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 809 (1996); *State v. Harris*, 206 Wis. 2d 243, 258, 557 N.W.2d 245 (1996). "An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be 'unreasonable' under the circumstances." *Whren*, 517 U.S. at 809; *Harris*, 206 Wis. 2d at 258. Where an unreasonable traffic stop occurs, the remedy is to suppress the evidence it produced. *Harris*, 206 Wis. 2d at 254; *see also Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963).

A reviewing court applies a two-part test when reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress. *State v. Popp*, 2014 WI App 100, ¶ 13, 357 Wis. 2d 696, 855 N.W.2d 471. A circuit court's findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous, but the application of constitutional principles to the facts are reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

B. Although the traffic stop had not been completed at the time the canine unit arrived, the dog sniff nevertheless prolonged the stop.

When a police officer stops a vehicle for a routine traffic violation, he is permitted to investigate that violation.

Rodriguez, 135 S.Ct. at 1614. A routine traffic stop is therefore "more analogous to a so-called '*Terry* stop'... than to a formal arrest." *Knowles v. Iowa*, 525 U.S. 113, 117 (1998). Like a *Terry* stop, the reasonableness of the duration of the officer's investigation during a traffic stop "is determined by the seizure's 'mission' – to address the traffic violation that warranted the stop ... and to attend to related safety concerns. *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1614 (citing *Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405 (2005)).

In *Rodriguez*, the Supreme Court held that a traffic stop that was extended by seven or eight minutes for purposes of dog sniff constituted an unreasonable and а unconstitutional seizure. In that case, an officer stopped the defendant for driving on the highway shoulder. After attending to everything related to the stop, including checking driver's license and issuing a warning for the traffic offense, the officer requested permission to walk his dog around the car. The defendant refused, so the officer detained him until a second officer arrived and then performed the dog sniff. The dog alerted to the presence of drugs. The officers then searched the vehicle and found a bag of methamphetamines. The defendant was charged with possession with intent to deliver and subsequently sought suppression of the drug evidence. *Id.* at 1613.

To determine whether the extension of the stop was reasonable, the Court in *Rodriguez* applied the following test:

Because addressing the infraction is the purpose of the stop, it may "last no longer than is necessary to effectuate th[at] purpose." Authority for the seizure thus ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are - or reasonably should have been - completed.

Id. at 1614 (internal citations omitted). In other words, absent reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, a routine traffic stop becomes unlawful "'if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete th[e] mission' of issuing a warning ticket." *Id.* at 1614-15 (citing *Caballes*, 543 U.S. at 407).

The *Rodriguez* Court noted that an officer's mission of issuing a traffic ticket includes such typical inquires as checking the driver's license, determining whether there are outstanding warrants, and inspecting the vehicle's registration and proof of insurance. *Id.* at 1615 (citing *Delaware v. Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 658-660 (1979)). The Court stated that a dog sniff, however, is not a routine part of a traffic stop, since it is "aimed at 'detect[ing] evidence of ordinary criminal wrongdoing."" *Id.* (citing *Indianapolis v. Edmond*, 531 U.S. 32, 40-41 (2000)).

The Court therefore rejected the notion that an officer may "incrementally" prolong a stop to conduct a dog sniff so long as the officer is reasonably diligent in pursing the trafficrelated purpose of the stop and the overall length of the stop remains reasonable. *Id.* at 1615-16. The Court also stressed that the critical issue "is not whether a dog sniff occurs *before or after* the officer issues a ticket, . . . but whether conducting the sniff 'prolongs' – i.e., adds time to – 'the stop.'" *Id.* at 1616 (emphasis added).

In this case, the circuit court found that the stop was not extended for purposes of a dog sniff because Braun had not completed the process of writing the ticket and warning and giving them to the driver before Emmerich arrived at the scene. (57:11-12; App. 153-54). But again, *Rodriguez* makes clear that the relevant issue is not whether the dog sniff occurs before or after an officer issues a ticket. It is simply whether the dog sniff adds time to the stop. The circuit court's decision was thus based on an incorrect interpretation of the law. Its ruling on Stib's suppression motion was therefore erroneous.

The undisputed facts in this case show that the dog sniff did, in fact, measurably prolong the duration of traffic stop. Braun testified that even before beginning the process of writing the citation and warning, he contacted two different police departments in an attempt to procure the assistance of a canine unit. (55:6-7; App. 106-07). These calls in-and-of-themselves prolonged the stop by approximately two minutes, according to Braun.³ (55:7; App. 107).

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