# RECEIVED

## STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-06-2017

#### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT II

Case No. 2017AP0003-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES R. STIB,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SANDY A. WILLIAMS, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

In Arias, the supreme court observed that the public interest in preventing the distribution of illegal drugs "has long been recognized as significant." Arias, 311 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 39 (citation omitted). The use of drug dogs furthers the public's interest in locating drugs that officers might not otherwise detect. Id. Therefore, the supreme court concluded that the public's interest served through a dog sniff outweighed any incremental intrusion on the car's occupants and was constitutionally reasonable. Id. ¶ 40.

The law after United States Supreme Court decided Rodriguez v. United States on April 21, 2015. In Rodriguez, the U.S. Supreme Court held that officers may not routinely traffic extend otherwise-completed an stop, absent reasonable suspicion, in order to conduct a dog sniff. Rodriguez, 135 S. Ct. at 1612, 1615. "[T]he tolerable duration of police inquiries in the traffic-stop context is determined by the seizure's 'mission'-to address the traffic violation that warranted the stop and attend to related safety concerns." Id. at 1614. The stop may last no longer than necessary to effectuate the purpose of the traffic stop, i.e., addressing the infraction that is the purpose of the stop. Id.

The "mission" of the traffic stop includes "ordinary inquiries" such as "checking the driver's license, determining whether there are outstanding warrants against the driver, and inspecting the automobile's registration and proof of insurance." *Id.* at 1615 (citation omitted). In addition, because an officer's safety interest stems from the mission of a traffic stop, an officer may take "certain negligibly burdensome precautions" to safely complete the mission. *Id.* at 1616. An on-scene investigation into other crimes detours from the traffic stop's mission. *Id.* at 1616. Because a dog sniff is aimed at detecting evidence of ordinary criminal wrongdoing, it is not an ordinary incident of a traffic stop and is not "fairly characterized as part of the officer's traffic mission." *Id.* at 1615.

The officer's authority to seize an individual "ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—*or reasonably should have been*—completed." *Id.* at 1614. Said another way, "[t]he critical question . . . is not whether the dog sniff occurs before or after the officer issues a ticket . . . but whether conducting the sniff 'prolongs'—i.e., adds time to— 'the stop." *Id.* at 1616. An officer may detain an individual beyond the time needed to complete the traffic infraction investigation only if the officer has reasonable suspicion that other criminal activity is afoot. *Id.* at 1616–17; *see also State* v. *Hogan*, 2015 WI 76, ¶ 35, 364 Wis. 2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124.

The good faith exception to the exclusionary rule. When the State obtains evidence in violation of a person's Fourth Amendment rights, the exclusionary rule usually precludes its use in a criminal proceeding. *Illinois v. Krull*, 480 U.S. 340, 347 (1987). Courts do not apply the exclusionary rule "when the officers conducting an illegal search 'acted in the objectively reasonable belief that their conduct did not violate the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 33, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. Accordingly, the exclusionary rule does not apply in situations "where the officers relied in good faith on clear and settled law that was only subsequently changed." *Id.* ¶ 34.

This Court recently recognized that *Rodriguez* fundamentally changed the law established in *Arias*. Since *Rodriguez*, this Court has applied the good-faith exception and relied on *Arias* to assess the reasonableness of a pre-*Rodriguez* stop that involved a prolonged traffic stop for the purpose of a canine sniff. *State v. Downer Jossi*, No. 2016AP618-CR, 2016WL4443410 (Wis. Ct. App. Aug. 24, 2016) (unpublished). (R-App. 101–102.)

B. Trooper Braun acted reasonably under the prevailing legal standards when he briefly prolonged the traffic stop for the purpose of a dog sniff of the car.

## 1. Under *Rodriguez* a traffic stop cannot be prolonged to conduct the dog sniff.

The circuit court determined that Stib's case did not fall under *Rodriguez* because Braun did not prolong the stop for the purpose of conducting a dog search. (R. 57:12.) Based on the State's review of *Rodriguez* and its application to the facts, the State disagrees with the circuit court's conclusion.<sup>3</sup> The State does not concede that *Rodriguez* applies to Stib's case, but if it does, then the record does not support the circuit court's reasoning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A party's concession of law does not bind this Court's determination of the issue. *Bergmann v. McCaughtry*, 211 Wis. 2d 1, 7, 564 N.W.2d 712 (1997). Accordingly, the State explains why it concedes that Trooper Braun's actions would not be deemed reasonable if *Rodriguez* applied to Stib's case.

Braun stopped Mertes's car for speeding. (R. 55:12.) Braun did not observe evidence of illegal or otherwise strange behavior when he made contact with the car's occupants. (R. 55:13–14.) Nothing in Braun's initial contact gave him any reason to suspect that there were drugs in the car. (R. 55:14.) Based on this record, Braun did not have reasonable suspicion to suspect some other criminal activity that would justify prolonging the traffic stop for another lawful investigatory purpose.

Absent reasonable suspicion of other criminal activity, *Rodriguez*, if applicable to Stib's case, would have required Braun to continue the stop for the purpose of completing its original mission of addressing the traffic violation and attending to any related safety concerns. *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1614. As part of this mission, Braun could take the time necessary to complete the stop by "checking the driver's license, determining whether there are outstanding warrants against the driver, and inspecting the automobile's registration and proof of insurance." *Id.* at 1615 (citation omitted).

Here, the circuit court concluded that Braun did not prolong the traffic stop because he had not completed the actual traffic citation process by serving the citation, returning the driver's license, and allowing the car's occupants to go on their way. (R. 57:11–12.) But under *Rodriguez*, the circuit court should not have been concerned with whether the sniff occurred before Braun completed issuing the citations. Rather, the circuit court should have focused on whether the sniff delayed completion of the traffic stop. *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1616. And the record here suggests that the canine sniff took Braun's attention from completing the traffic stop, potentially adding time to the stop.

By the time Officer Emmerich and Jake arrived, Braun had finished preparing the speeding citation, but had not completed the warning for a cracked windshield. (R. 55:7; 61:7.) After briefly explaining the situation to Emmerich, Braun did not immediately return to completing duties associated with the traffic stop. Instead, his Emmerich asked Braun to remove the driver and passengers from the car. Emmerich proceeded with the canine sniff only after Braun had removed each occupant from the car one at a time and frisked them. (R. 55:7-8.) Approximately four minutes and forty seconds, from 21:17:58 to 21:22:40, lapsed between Braun's initial contact with Emmerich and Jake's alert on the car.<sup>4</sup> (R. 21, Ex. 2; 56:8, 14.) During this time, Braun was focused on the canine search, a detour associated with ordinary criminal wrongdoing rather than the task of his traffic mission. *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1615.

2. Under the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule, Braun reasonably prolonged the stop under *Arias*, which was the controlling decision when Braun stopped Stib.

Braun's delay in completing the traffic mission does not require suppression here because his actions were constitutionally reasonable under settled law at the time of the stop. The Supreme Court decided *Rodriguez* on April 21, 2015, over two months after Braun seized Stib on February

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Jake's sniff of the car's exterior in the gas station parking lot does not constitute a search. See State v. Arias, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 3, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748. Jake's positive alert established probable cause to search the car. See State v. Miller, 2002 WI App 150, ¶¶ 13–14, 256 Wis. 2d 80, 647 N.W.2d 348. The alert justified an investigatory detention of the car's occupants, including Stib, for the purpose of determining whether any of them had committed or was committing a drug offense.

8, 2015. (R. 1:1.) *Rodriguez*, 135 S.Ct. at 1609. Under *Arias*, which was the law when Braun seized Stib, Braun was authorized to briefly prolong a traffic stop for the purpose of conducting a dog sniff. The time between Emmerich's and Jake's arrival and Jake's alert, approximately 4 minutes and 40 seconds, was three minutes longer than the 78-second extension upheld as reasonable in *Arias*. *Arias*, 311 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 3, 38. But the delay for conducting the sniff in Stib's case still falls within the time frame that other appellate courts upheld before the Supreme Court decided *Rodriguez*.

For example, in *Rodriguez*, the Eighth Circuit characterized the seven- to eight-minute delay to deploy a dog as "a *de minimis* intrusion on Rodriguez's personal liberty." United States v. Rodriguez, 741 F.3d 905, 907–08 (8th Cir. 2014) (citation omitted), vacated and remanded, 135 S. Ct. 1609 (2015). The Eighth Circuit noted that this delay was "similar to delay that we have found to be reasonable in other circumstances." Id. at 907; see also United States v. Englehart, 811 F.3d 1034, 1041 (8th Cir. 2016) (citing pre-*Rodriguez* cases that upheld seizures less than ten minutes as *de minimis* intrusions that were not unreasonable even without reasonable suspicion). In United States v. Harrison, 606 F.3d 42, 45 (2d Cir. 2010), the Second Circuit noted that traffic stops prolonged for more than five to six minutes without additional reasonable suspicion "have been deemed tolerable." *Id.* (and cases cited therein).

Less than five minutes elapsed between the time when Braun and Emmerich first spoke to each other at 21:17:58 and Jake's alert at 21:22:40. (R. 21, Ex. 2). Braun explained the reason for the stop to Emmerich, who then asked Braun to remove the car's occupants before conducting the dog sniff. This conversation between Braun and Emmerich lasted less than 30 seconds, between 21:17:58 and 21:18:25. (R. 21, Ex. 2). Braun took approximately three and a half minutes, between 21:18:36 and 21:22:04, to remove each occupant of the car and frisk them. (R. 21, Ex. 2). The Supreme Court has recognized the safety risks inherent in traffic stops and has upheld the authority of officers to remove the car's occupants without additional justification during a traffic stop. *See Maryland v. Wilson*, 519 U.S. 408, 414–15 (1997). Braun's actions in removing the occupants from the car were constitutionally reasonable under *Wilson*.

Stib contends that Braun's radio request for canine units also prolonged the stop. (Stib's Br. 13.) Braun stated that it took no more than two minutes to locate a canine officer. (R. 55:7.) Later he testified that it took "maybe a little over a minute." (R. 61:9.)<sup>5</sup> While Braun was making radio calls for a drug dog, he was also receiving returns through his computer for record checks that he had previously run related to the driver and the car. (R. 61:9-10.) While Braun waited for the canine officer, he completed and printed out the citation for speeding. (R. 55:7; 61:7.) The circuit court found that Braun was "multitasking." (R. 61:12.) Braun was engaged in a variety of tasks when he asked for the canine unit. His request for a canine unit did not unreasonably extend the stop.

Finally, according to Braun, it takes between 10 and 15 minutes to issue a traffic ticket during a typical traffic stop. (R. 55:11.) The stop occurred at 21:08:02. (R. 21, Ex. 2.) Jake's barking, which indicated an alert and provided a separate grounds to continue the seizure, occurred at 21:22:40, just within the time frame of a typical traffic stop. (R. 21, Ex. 2.) Braun's extension of the traffic stop to conduct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The squad video reflects that Braun made the call for a drug dog at 21:12:36. (R. 21, Ex. 2.) That conversation is fairly brief. It is not clear whether it was his first or second request.

a dog sniff was a *de minimis* intrusion on Stib's liberty. The intrusion did "not outweigh the public interest served by it; therefore, the incremental intrusion occasioned by the dog sniff satisfies [the] test for reasonableness." *Arias*, 311 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 47.

## 3. This Court may remand the case for additional fact-finding for the purpose of assessing whether good faith applies.

The circuit court determined that Braun's conduct did not prolong the stop. It did not consider whether Braun's conduct was unreasonable if, in fact, his actions prolonged the stop beyond its original mission. Assuming that his actions did and that this Court concludes that it should assess the reasonableness of Braun's actions under Arias. the State believes that the record supports application of the good faith doctrine and a finding that Braun's conduct was reasonable. But if this Court believes that the record is inadequate to make this determination, it may remand the matter for additional fact-finding for the purpose of how long Braun's actions actually prolonged the stop and whether it was constitutionally reasonable under Arias. See e.g. State v. Marguardt, 2001 WI App 219, ¶¶ 22–23, 247 Wis. 2d 765, 635 N.W.2d 188 (court remanding case to circuit court to determine whether the good faith exception applies when the trial court had not addressed that issue).<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Based on the record, the State does not suggest that Braun had reasonable suspicion apart from the traffic violation and before Jake's alert to detain the car's occupants. While Mertes' jerky driving concerned Braun (R. 55:5), Braun did not observe illegal or odd behavior in the car during his initial contact with its occupants. Nothing during his initial encounter gave him any reason to suspect drugs were in the car. (R. 55:13–14.) Emmerich noted that Stib, who was in the front passenger seat, was moving

II. While suppression is generally the remedy for an unconstitutional seizure, plea withdrawal is permitted only if the circuit court's decision denying the motion to suppress was not harmless.

Should this Court reverse the circuit court's decision and judgment, Stib asks that this Court "order that he be permitted to withdraw his guilty pleas[.]" (Stib's Br. 17.) A decision from this Court directing the circuit court to grant Stib's motion to suppress does not automatically entitle Stib to plea withdrawal. "In a guilty plea situation following the denial of a motion to suppress, the test for harmless error on appeal is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the erroneous admission of the disputed evidence contributed to the conviction." *State v. Semrau*, 2000 WI 54, ¶ 22, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376. Said another way, the question is whether there is a "reasonable probability that, but for the trial court's failure to suppress the disputed evidence, [the defendant] would have refused to plead and would have insisted on going to trial." *Id.* ¶ 26.

If this Court concludes that the circuit court erred when it denied Stib's motion to suppress evidence, the remedy is to remand the case to the circuit court to enter an order granting his motion to suppress evidence. The circuit court may then entertain a motion from Stib to withdraw his guilty plea. The circuit court should grant plea withdrawal only if the State cannot meet its burden of demonstrating that the circuit court's error in refusing to suppress error

around in the car, "looking back at us like he was worried about what we were doing." (R. 56:7.) Emmerich could not see what Stib was doing with his hands. (R. 56:7.) While this point was not otherwise developed in the record and the circuit court expressly declined to consider it (R. 57:12), this may be a factor in assessing the reasonableness of the officers' actions should this Court decide to remand the matter.

was harmless, guided by the factors this Court identified in *Semrau. Id.* ¶ 22.<sup>7</sup> This Court should decide the suppression question only and leave the matter of plea withdrawal to the circuit court on remand, if needed.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the above reasons, the State respectfully asks that this Court affirm Stib's judgment of conviction.